STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Pickens County

G. Edward Welmaker, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

GARY CLIFFTON HAMILTON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001665

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err by admitting testimony of a so-called expert in “child sex abuse dynamics” where the testimony concerned information within the realm of lay knowledge, the state presented no evidence of the expert’s reliability, the testimony improperly bolstered the minor complainant’s credibility, and the testimony was unfairly prejudicial to Appellant?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 11, 2012, a Pickens County grand jury indicted Appellant for criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree (2012-GS-39-1527). On July 22, 2014, less than one week before his trial, Appellant was indicted for lewd act upon a minor (2014-GS-39-1485). Both indictments alleged conduct occurring in August 2011. R. 448 - 449; R. 451 - 452. The cases were tried before the Honorable G. Edward Welmaker and a jury beginning on July 28, 2014. Brandi Hinton represented the state, and Teal Johnson represented Appellant. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 433, line 25 – R. 434, line 5. Judge Welmaker sentenced Appellant to thirty-two years' imprisonment for the criminal sexual conduct conviction and to fifteen years' imprisonment for the lewd act conviction. He ordered the sentences to be served concurrently. R. 439, line 23 – R. 440, line 4; R. 450; R. 453.

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

## ARGUMENT

The trial court erred by admitting testimony of a so-called expert in “child sex abuse dynamics” where the testimony concerned information within the realm of lay knowledge, the state presented no evidence of the expert’s reliability, the testimony improperly bolstered the minor complainant’s credibility, and the testimony was unfairly prejudicial to Appellant.

### **Relevant facts**

Minor’s mother, Christine Wilson,<sup>1</sup> was close friends with Appellant’s daughter, Julie Ann Hamilton. When Christine’s mother kicked Christine and her two children out of the house, Christine had nowhere to go. Julie agreed to allow Christine’s two children to stay in the home she shared with Appellant and her mother in August of 2011. R. 210, lines 3-10; R. 211, lines 21-23; R. 220, lines 7-20. At the tender age of three, Minor had endured a difficult life. When she was only six-months old, she was in the car with Christine and Minor’s father, when Minor’s father discharged a firearm during a drive-by shooting. Christine was charged and pled guilty to discharging a firearm within a dwelling related to this incident. R. 214, line 11 – R. 215, line 12. Christine admitted to smoking marijuana around Minor. R. 219, lines 18-23. Minor also saw her father beat Christine and threaten her with a knife at various times. R. 216, lines 8-22. Christine was addicted to drugs, and Minor’s father was an alcoholic, who was serving a prison sentence for methamphetamine. R. 215, line 25 – R. 216, line 2; R. 217, lines 1-14.

Minor, who was six-years old at the time of trial, claimed that when she was three-years old, Appellant “put his finger in [her] butt” while the two were outside of the church. R. 188, lines 15-16; R. 190, line 8 – R. 191, line 24; R. 209, lines 24-25. She thought that

---

<sup>1</sup> Christine revealed that she had been sexually abused. R. 226, lines 11-13.

Appellant told her that it would hurt worse if she kept moving. R. 192, lines 9-14. Further, she claimed that Appellant pulled his pants down, pulled on his wiener, and screamed while they were at the church. R. 192, lines 17-23. Minor told her mother about the alleged sexual assault in late August or early September, approximately one month after the alleged incident. R. 193, lines 23-24; R. 211, lines 10-23. Christine claimed she called the police the day Minor made the accusations and that Minor was evaluated medically the following day. R. 212, line 19 – R. 213, line 7; R. 226, lines 14-19.

The allegations were transferred to the Anderson County Sheriff's Office from Pickens on November 11, 2011. R. 233, line 13 – R. 234, line 2. Five months later, Investigator Michele Hendrix met with Appellant at his home on April 5, 2012. R. 234, lines 8-12. Appellant denied touching Minor. R. 236, lines 14-24. During this meeting, Appellant was having problems with his diabetes and "a problem with his fingers." His fingers were "swollen and some of them were starting to crack open." R. 237, line 22 – R. 238, line 3.

On April 19, 2012, Appellant, who was "very immobile" and "had injuries to his hands," went to the Sheriff's Office where he was interrogated by James Collins. R. 245, lines 17-23; R. 250, lines 2-4. When Collins confronted Appellant with Minor's allegations, Appellant offered several explanations of how he may have accidentally touched Minor. Collins refused to believe Appellant and "challenged" each of his explanations. R. 249, line 2 – R. 251, line 10. Collins "went back and forth" with Appellant until Appellant grew tired and frustrated and said he had touched Minor. Only then did Collins prepare a written statement for Appellant to sign. R. 251, lines 10-19. Collins prepared the statement "because of [Appellant's] lack of education, his special ed[ucation], his injuries to his hands;

he wasn't able to hold a pencil." R. 253, lines 20-25. According to the written statement, Appellant rubbed Minor's vagina in the church parking lot. R. 254, line 13 – R. 255, line 21. Although the written statement made no reference to any penetration, Collins claimed Appellant told him that he had inserted his finger into her vagina. R. 255, line 25 – R. 256, line 3. Inexplicably, Collins permitted Appellant to leave the Sheriff's Office and return home with his wife and daughter. R. 271, lines 19-22; R. 272, lines 15-16.<sup>2</sup>

Later, the case was transferred to the Central Police Department and Khristy Justice took over the investigation. R. 282, lines 19-23. On April 26, 2012, Justice met with Appellant at the Police Department. R. 283, lines 18-19. Appellant's written statement to Justice was similar to his written statement to Collins: Sometime in August 2011, he rubbed on Minor's vagina in the church parking lot, but did not penetrate her. R. 288, lines 3-18; R. 298, line 9 – R. 299, line 5; R. 299, line 22 – R. 301, line 23. During this meeting, Appellant continued to have problems with his hands. According to Justice, "his hands were busted open, pus coming out of them. We weren't even able to print them." R. 288, lines 14-18.

Dr. Mary Fran Crosswell examined Minor on November 28, 2011. R. 366, lines 10-14. Although Minor disclosed sexual abuse to Dr. Crosswell, the examination revealed no physical signs of sexual abuse. Essentially, Minor had "a normal exam." R. 369, lines 10-25. According to Dr. Crosswell, the majority of sexual abuse examinations are "normal"

---

<sup>2</sup> Appellant's daughter, Julie Ann, and his wife claimed that during the car ride home, Appellant said, "Please don't hate me" and handed them a copy of his statement to Collins. R. 272, line 17 – R. 273, line 6; R. 324, line 7 – R. 325, line 13. Julie Ann was angry with Appellant and noted that when she was sexually abused as a child, Appellant removed her from the environment and threatened to kill the abuser. She moved out of her parents' home because she did not want her two-year old daughter around Appellant. R. 273, lines 10-21; R. 275, lines 2-14.

“because the injury, if it occurred, has healed without leaving any signs, or the type of abuse didn’t leave an injury that we could see with the eye.” R. 371, lines 5-8. Without indicating which studies, Dr. Crosswell claimed that medical studies supported her assertion that “up to eighty-five percent of children do not have specific findings in cases where the perpetrator has been criminally convicted for the abuse.” R. 371, lines 21-25. On cross-examination, Dr. Crosswell was forced to admit that a normal exam “could be consistent with no sexual abuse.” R. 372, lines 22-25.

Over Appellant’s vehement objection, the prosecution called Shauna Galloway-Williams as an “expert” witness in “child sexual abuse dynamics.” During arguments on the motion to exclude, the prosecutor stated “the purpose of her testimony is just to explain to the jury about child abuse in general. ... She never met with the child. She did not view the forensic video.” However, the prosecutor maintained “there are, you know, multiple issues that are not common knowledge to the jury as it relates to child sexual abuse.” R. 331, line 18 – R. 332, line 11. Appellant objected that the testimony would “only bolster any testimony” already presented. R. 332, lines 15-20; R. 333, lines 5-6. Further, relying on Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 699 S.E.2d 169 (2010), Appellant objected the testimony “would not aid the trier of fact at all; would only confuse the trier of fact.” R. 332, lines 21-24; R. 333, lines 7-11. Citing State v. Douglas, 380 S.C. 499, 671 S.E.2d 606 (2009), Appellant explained the trial court must find the subject matter of the proposed “expert” testimony “is beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury.” R. 332, line 24 – R. 333, line 3. Here, the subject matter was clearly within the purview of lay people and required no expertise. R. 333, lines 4-5. Appellant objected that the testimony simply was not probative. R. 333, line 6.

The prosecutor explained the proposed testimony would cover “issues such as delayed disclosure, how children usually communicate, potential inconsistencies with the victim.” R. 33, lines 15-17. Relying on State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 523 S.E.2d 787 (Ct. App. 1999), the trial judge overruled the objection provided the testimony stayed within the parameters set forth by the prosecutor. Specifically, the trial judge found the testimony “would be probative for the jury and helpful to them.” R. 334, lines 13-24. Thereafter, Appellant requested an in-camera hearing regarding the testimony, which the trial judge permitted. When the judge asked if the hearing were to cover her qualifications, Appellant responded, “Just, I guess, what her testimony would be.” When the judge asked if Appellant had “issues with her qualifications,” Appellant responded, “No. I don’t have any issue about her qualifications; just what her testimony would be.” R. 334, line 25 – R. 335, line 19. Thereafter, Galloway-Williams testified in-camera. R. 336, line 19 – R. 343, line 11.

Appellant asked no questions during the in-camera hearing. R. 343, lines 15-25. However, Appellant renewed her objections explaining how the testimony would bolster Minor’s testimony and would appeal to the “passions and prejudices of the jury.” R. 344, lines 5-11. The trial judge permitted the testimony in large part, but refused to permit the prosecutor to elicit the proposed testimony concerning “the dishonesty of adults or children.” R. 346, lines 2-20.

In front of the jury and over Appellant’s renewed contemporaneous objection, Galloway-Williams testified as an expert in “child sexual abuse dynamics.” R. 351, line 19 – R. 352, line 15. Galloway-Williams had never met Minor or Appellant. R. 352, line 24 – R. 353, line 6. However, she told the jury that

Grooming ... is when a perpetrator of someone who’s going to harm a child develops a trusting relationship with them by given them special attention,

giving them gifts, doing things to really enhance their relationship, and doing that in a way to not only enhance the relationship and develop trust, but also to sort of test the waters with the child to see how far they may be able to take the relationship.

R. 353, lines 9-25. Further, the “expert” claimed that “most children are abused by someone that’s known, loved and trusted to the child and to the family.” She further claimed that “grooming” included “cultivating that relationship with the family.” This explained “why children have a hard time telling someone or letting someone know that this has happened to them.” R. 354, lines 1-9.

Next, the “expert” claimed that “[i]n most cases that we see at the Julie Valentine Center and in my experience and in what the research tells us, most children don’t tell right away.” She concluded that based on her “experience and training and education, it’s very common that children don’t disclose or that they delay their disclosure.” R. 355, lines 2-11. Tying the delayed disclosure testimony to grooming, the “expert” claimed “one of the strongest factors or one of the biggest influences [on disclosure] is that relationship that the child has with the perpetrator.” R. 355, lines 19-23. Children may fear that something will happen if they tell, including having to move and not having a caregiver. R. 356, lines 1-6.

Then, the “expert” explained the difference between a full disclosure and a partial disclosure. She claimed that “[w]hat we know is that disclosure is a process.” This meant that children would not tell “every single detail about what’s happened to them the first time that they tell someone.” R. 356, lines 7-23. She further commented that children and adults communicate differently depending upon the age of the child and the child’s level of verbal skills. R. 357, lines 9-19.

Finally, the “expert” informed the jury of children who were at “high risk” of being sexually abused. She claimed substance abuse by the caregiver, single parent households,

very young age with less verbal skills, disabled children, and children with behavioral problems placed children at a greater risk of being sexually abused. R. 357, line 20 – R. 358, line 16.

During her closing argument, the prosecutor emphasized Galloway-Williams' testimony to the jury and encouraged them to rely upon it when deliberating and arriving at a verdict.

Shauna Galloway-Williams came in and testified. And she came to testify about child abuse in general. And the reason her testimony is so important is that she's a trained professional. She sees this every day. And the things that she said, having never met [Minor], not knowing anything about the situation, or [Appellant] describes [Minor]'s situation; that it's someone you know, you love and you trust. [Minor] testified that she liked [Appellant.] [Appellant] was probably, at that time, the most stable thing that she had. It's somebody that grooms you, they take you in, they're kind to you, they work on that trust with you. That's exactly what [Appellant] did. And as Shauna stated, [Minor] is at high risk. Her mom admitted to having substance abuse problems. She comes from a single-parent family. Her dad is incarcerated. She was at high risk. [Appellant] knew that. [Appellant] took advantage of that.

R. 398, line 23 – R. 399, line 13.

### **Discussion**

The South Carolina Rules of Evidence and case law govern the admission and scope of expert testimony. Pursuant to the Rule, “[i]f scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.” Rule 702, SCRE. In Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 699 S.E.2d 169 (2010), the South Carolina Supreme Court specified the following three-prong test for expert testimony:

[E]xpert testimony receives additional scrutiny relative to other evidentiary decisions. Specifically, in executing its gatekeeping duties, the trial court must make three key preliminary findings which are fundamental to Rule 702 before the jury may consider expert testimony. First, the trial court must find that the subject matter is beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury, thus requiring an expert to explain the matter to the jury. Next, while the expert need not be a specialist in the particular branch of the field, the trial court must find that the proffered expert has indeed acquired the requisite knowledge and skill to qualify as an expert in the particular subject matter. Finally, the trial court must evaluate the substance of the testimony and determine whether it is reliable.

Id. at 446, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added). The first and third prongs of the Watson test were not met in this case.

Turning to the first prong, the testimony offered by Galloway-Williams was not of a subject matter beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury. Although Galloway-Williams was qualified as an expert in “child sex abuse dynamics,” the law governing forensic interviewing is applicable here. There is simply no field of study regarding “child sex abuse dynamics” and the real job of Galloway-Williams is to conduct forensic interviews. Although the prosecutor tried to take the testimony outside the ambit of forensic interviewing by creating a fictitious area of expertise, Galloway-Williams is simply a forensic interviewer as revealed through her testimony and in South Carolina’s case law.

In State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013), the South Carolina Supreme Court proclaimed: “[W]e state today that we can envision no circumstance where [a forensic interviewer’s] qualification as an expert at trial would be appropriate.” Id. at 357, n.5, 737 S.E.2d at 499 n.5. In State v. Douglas, 380 S.C. 499, 502-503, 671 S.E.2d 606, 608 (2009), the South Carolina Supreme Court found the trial court erred in qualifying a forensic interviewer as an expert because the testimony simply did not

require expert qualification. The forensic interviewer's testimony concerned only "her personal observations and experiences, and her interview with the Victim in th[e] case."

Id.

The only purpose of Galloway-Williams' testimony at Appellant's trial was to improperly bolster Minor's testimony. "It is undeniable that the primary purpose for calling a 'forensic interviewer' as a witness is to lend credibility to the victim's allegations. When this witness is qualified as an expert the impermissible harm is compounded." Kromah, 401 S.C. at 358, 737 S.E.2d at 499. "[E]ven though experts are permitted to give an opinion, they may not offer an opinion regarding the credibility of others." State v. Portillo, 408 S.C. 66, 71, 757 S.E.2d 721, 724 (Ct. App. 2014) (quoting Kromah, 401 S.C. 340 at 358, 737 S.E.2d at 499). "The assessment of witness credibility is within the exclusive province of the jury." State v. McKerley, 397 S.C. 461, 464, 725 S.E.2d 139, 141 (Ct. App. 2012). Therefore, it is improper for a witness to bolster the testimony or credibility of another witness. See Smith v. State, 386 S.C. 562, 569, 689 S.E.2d 629, 633 (2010) (finding a "forensic interviewer's . . . opinion testimony improperly bolstered the victim's credibility").

In McKerley, the trial court allowed a witness to testify as an expert in "forensic interviewing and child abuse assessment." 397 S.C. at 463, 725 S.E.2d at 141. The witness had interviewed the alleged victim twice and concluded that both interviews were "compelling" for sexual abuse. Further, the witness determined that the alleged victim's statements were consistent with other information in the case. Id. at 466, 725 S.E.2d at 142. The Supreme Court determined that there was no other way to interpret the language used in the expert's testimony other than to mean she believed the victim was

being truthful. The Court further held, “In light of [the expert’s] extensive inadmissible testimony bolstering the credibility of the victim . . . we cannot say the erroneous admission of [the expert’s] testimony did not contribute to the jury’s decision,” therefore finding harmful error. *Id.* at 467, 725 S.E.2d at 143.

The Supreme Court has also held that it is improper “for an expert to comment on the veracity of a child’s accusations of sexual abuse.” *State v. Jennings*, 394 S.C. 473, 716 S.E.2d 91 (2011). Interestingly, *Jennings* involved a challenge to the testimony of Shauna Galloway-Williams, the same witness at issue in this case. Galloway-Williams interviewed the three alleged victims of sexual abuse and issued separate reports for each child that were admitted into evidence. She concluded in her reports that each child provided a “compelling” disclosure of abuse by the defendant and that the children provided details that were consistent with the background information received. 394 S.C. at 476-481, 716 S.E.2d at 92-95. The Court held the conclusions in Galloway-Williams’ reports improperly vouched for the children’s veracity and thus the trial court abused its discretion by admitting the reports into evidence. It further held the error was not harmless because there was no physical evidence presented at trial and the children’s credibility was the sole issue in the case. *Id.* at 94-95, 716 S.E.2d at 480.

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