STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

SEP 30 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Pickens County
G. Edward Welmaker, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

GARY CLIFTON HAMILTON,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2014-001665

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

W. WALTER WILKINS
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 E. North Street, Ste. 325
Greenville, SC 29601

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Pickens County
G. Edward Welmaker, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

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

Instead, Hamilton cites State v. Douglas, 380 S.C. 499, 671 S.E.2d 606 (2009) and State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013). But those cases present a fact pattern where the person performing a forensic interview was qualified as an expert in forensic interviewing. To avoid an obvious distinction, Hamilton mischaracterizes Galloway-Williams as a forensic interviewer, although that was obviously not her role. Br. of App. p.

12. Of course, Galloway-Williams did not conduct a forensic interview. She only testified to provide general background information on the behaviors of child victims of sexual abuse.⁵ Douglas held that under the facts of that particular case it was unnecessary to qualify the forensic interviewer as an expert. Douglas, 380 S.C. at 501, 671 S.E.2d at 608. In Kromah, the Supreme Court in dicta declared they did not foresee a circumstance where it was necessary to qualify the interviewer as an expert in the RATAC methodology. Kromah, 401 S.C. at 357, 737 S.E.2d 499 n.5. Neither case cites Weaverling or Shumpert, and neither case discussed behavioral testimony. Of course Hamilton's brazen assertion that these cases were overruled by Kromah or Douglas has now been rejected by the Supreme Court in Anderson.

Testimony is reliable and the argument is not preserved for review

Hamilton's argument that the testimony is not reliable is not preserved for review. Hamilton's trial attorney objected, claiming the testimony was not probative, the testimony would improperly bolster Victim's testimony, and the subject matter was not knowledge beyond the ken of jurors. ROA. pp. 332-334. Hamilton did not argue that the testimony was unreliable before the trial court.

"In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial [court]. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal." State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94

⁵ Galloway-Williams' testimony on delayed disclosure and grooming is what a Texas court aptly described as "educator expert" evidence. Coble v. State, 330 S.W.3d 253 (Tx. Crim. App. 2010) (finding expert testimony about Texas prison classification system and prison violence admissible despite claim the testimony did not relate to appellant personally; testimony was relevant as rebuttal "educator-expert" evidence). Galloway-Williams did not relate her testimony to Victim personally.

(2003). The ground asserted at trial must be supported by the objection raised at trial. State v. Silver, 314 S.C. 483, 486, 431 S.E.2d 250, 251 (1993). An objection must sufficiently bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so it may be understood by the trial judge. State v. Prioleau, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001). The party may not argue one ground at trial and another on appeal. Id.

Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments. I’On v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000); see also Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi, 358 S.C. 78, 103, 594 S.E.2d 485, 498 (Ct. App. 2004) (“Without an initial ruling by the trial court, a reviewing court simply would not be able to evaluate whether the trial court committed error.”). In the instant case, there was no challenge to the reliability of the testimony. This Court should decline to address the issue.

Further, the record establishes the reliability of Galloway-Williams’ testimony. Scientific expert testimony requires that a court consider the following: “(1) the publications and peer review of the technique; (2) prior applications of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures.” Graves v. CAS Medical Systems, Inc., 401 S.C. 63, 74, 735 S.E.2d 650, 655 (2012) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). “However, these factors serve no useful analytical purpose for nonscientific evidence.” Id. at 74, 735 S.E.2d at 655-56 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

In Graves, the Supreme Court found error in excluding a doctor's expert testimony on SIDS even though the doctor testified she did not consider herself a SIDS (Sudden Infant Death Syndrome) expert. The Supreme Court opined, "The record before us reveals a doctor with over thirty years' experience as a neonatologist who stays current on SIDS literature. It is also clear from her testimony that she routinely encounters SIDS in her practice." Id. at 78, 735 S.E.2d at 657-58.

Obviously in counseling children who were sexually abused, and their families, Galloway-Williams has had the opportunity to observe and analyze their behaviors. Hamilton did not raise an issue concerning the reliability of the expert testimony to the trial court, but Galloway-Williams addressed it on cross-examination when she testified that everything she talked about "is all based on research and training and experience." ROA. p. 360, lines 3-4. The record reveals that Galloway-Williams worked in the field of mental health for seventeen years. ROA. p. 349, lines 22-24. Galloway-Williams teaches a child maltreatment course at USC-Upstate. She conducts training related to recognizing and responding to child sexual abuse. ROA. p. 350, lines 18-23. Like the doctor in Graves, Galloway-Williams has the requisite experience on the subject matter at hand to give reliable background information on the behaviors of sexually abused children.

Hamilton relies on the Supreme Court's recent case of State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. 101, 771 S.E.2d 336 (2015). However, that case is inapplicable to the present case. In Chavis, a forensic interviewer was qualified as an expert based on her training, education and knowledge of the RATAC protocol in order to give an opinion on whether there was a disclosure of sexual abuse in an interview of a child performed by another forensic

interviewer who was unavailable to testify at trial. The Supreme Court noted issues with the foundation to establish the testifying forensic interviewer's reliability. The expert testified she was unable to discern an error rate, and when asked what her quality control procedures were, she responded she uses RATAAC every time. Peer review of her use of the RATAAC technique was minimal. Id. at 107, 771 S.E.2d at 339. The Supreme Court opined "mere procedural consistency does not ensure reliability without some evidence demonstrating that the individual expert is able to draw reliable results from the procedures of which he or she consistently applies. We find no evidence in this record as to [the forensic interviewer's] ability to draw reliable results from the RATAAC procedures she consistently follows, and thus find that the threshold reliability requirement of Rule 702 is not met." Id. at 108, 771 S.E.2d at 339.

In the present case there is no "procedure" employed such as RATAAC and no "result" was drawn. Galloway-Williams simply provided general background information on victims of child sexual abuse without applying this background information to the facts of the case. Chavis has no application to the present case.

Further, the reliability of this testimony was demonstrated when the prosecution provided the trial court with citation to Weaverling, which the trial court relied upon. Weaverling recognized the admissibility of this kind of testimony in several jurisdictions. Accordingly, the authority itself established the reliability of testimony on the behaviors of sexually abused children. See State v. Charles Allen Cain, Op. No. 5324 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 15, 2015) (finding expert could testify as to theoretical yield of methamphetamine from precursor materials where the prosecution provided the trial court with authority from other

jurisdictions approving the use of such analysis, and the trial court based its ruling on the authority provided to it: “The cases on which the court based its ruling were directly on point and, therefore, qualified as prior applications of the theoretical yield method to the type of evidence involved in the instant matter.”).

Not improper bolstering

Hamilton argues that Galloway-Williams’ testimony improperly bolstered the Victim’s testimony. Galloway-Williams did not comment on Victim’s veracity. Instead Galloway-Williams supplied background information on the behaviors of victims of child sexual abuse without applying the facts to the present case. Galloway-Williams did not review the facts of the case or Victim’s interview.

“[I]t is improper for a witness to testify as to his or her opinion about the credibility of a child victim in a sexual abuse matter.” State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 358-59, 737 S.E.2d 490, 500 (2013). In this case, Galloway-Williams did not opine on Victim’s veracity. Accordingly, this case is readily distinguishable from Kromah and other cases where the expert testimony was found to be unfairly prejudicial to the defendant. See State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 480, 716 S.E.2d 91, 94 (2011) (finding the admission of the forensic interviewer’s written report into testimony to be error because the reports stated that each child “provided a compelling disclosure of abuse by appellant.”); State v. McKerley, 397 S.C. 461, 465, 725 S.E.2d 139, 142 (Ct. App. 2012) (finding the forensic interviewer’s “opinion as to whether she thinks something happened [was] nothing other than her inadmissible opinion as to whether the victim was telling the truth”).

Georgia’s Court of Appeals rejected an argument that an expert’s testimony

“bolstered” the victim’s testimony. Westbrooks v. State, 710 S.E.2d 594, 597-98 (Ga. Ct. App. 2011). The Georgia court found the forensic interviewer’s testimony regarding partial disclosure and delayed disclosure was relevant and did not directly address the victim’s credibility or express a direct opinion that the victim was sexually abused. Id. The Georgia court opined “the fact that such testimony may also indirectly involve the child’s credibility” does not mean that it improperly bolsters the child’s credibility. Id. at 598. Similarly, South Dakota’s Supreme Court also rejected the argument that an expert who testified as to the general characteristics of an abused child bolstered the victim’s credibility, noting the expert did not interview the witness or testify that the victim had any of those characteristics. State v. Edelman, 593 N.W.2d 419, 423 (S.D. 1999).

Generally, “[e]xpert testimony that abused children often delay reporting the abuse . . . informs the jury that the victim’s failure to disclose in a timely fashion does not necessarily exonerate the defendant without suggesting that the particular child witness in the case was or was not abused.” Commonwealth v. Bougas, 795 N.E.2d 1230, 1236 (Mass. App. Ct. 2003).

Hamilton misapprehends what constitutes improper bolstering. All relevant evidence in some way “bolsters” the strength of the offering party’s case, and a trial court may not exclude evidence that bolsters other evidence absent a constitutional, statutory or rule-based principle of law providing for exclusion. State v. Perry, 410 S.C. 191, 763 S.E.2d 603, 611 (Ct. App. 2014) (Few, C.J., concurring in part and dissenting in part). “Improper bolstering occurs when an expert witness is allowed to give his or her opinion as to whether the complaining witness is telling the truth, because that is an ultimate issue of fact and the

inference to be drawn is not beyond the ken of the average juror.” State v. Taylor, 404 S.C. 506, 745 S.E.2d 124, 128 (Ct. App. 2013) (*quoting State v. Douglas*, 367 S.C. 498, 626 S.E.2d 59 (Ct.App.2006), *rev'd in part on other grounds*, 380 S.C. 499, 671 S.E.2d 606 (2009)). Generally, bolstering is prohibited to prevent a witness from testifying whether another witness is credible, which is exclusively within the province of the jury. Id.

Galloway-Williams never testified about the credibility of the victim. This is simply not improper bolstering under the definition this Court provided for the benefit of bench and bar.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting this testimony as it is clearly admissible under Schumpert and Weaverling and case law from the majority of jurisdictions that goes back decades and recently reaffirmed by this Court under Brown and subsequently the Supreme Court in Anderson. Any conceivable confusion over the precedent of this state and whether this state should become possibly the only jurisdiction to disallow such testimony was laid to rest by the Supreme Court’s opinion in Anderson and its denial of a writ of certiorari in Brown the next day.

Prejudice

Hamilton argues that the testimony was unfairly prejudicial. However the testimony was probative to cure misconceptions about sexually abused children and explain the phenomenon of the behaviors of sexually abused children. It may be prejudicial to Hamilton because it limits his ability to mislead the jury or rely on a juror’s misconceptions about child abuse, but it is not **unfairly** prejudicial.

Trial judges have considerable discretion in ruling on the admission or exclusion of

evidence, and an appellate court will not reverse a trial judge's ruling on evidentiary matters absent a clear abuse of that discretion resulting in prejudice to the defendant. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002); see State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 625, 703 S.E.2d 226, 230 (2010) ("The appellate court reviews a trial judge's ruling on admissibility of evidence pursuant to an abuse of discretion standard and gives **great deference** to the trial court." (emphasis added)).

In South Carolina, "[t]he admission or exclusion of expert testimony is a matter within the sound discretion of the trial court." Burroughs v. Worsham, 352 S.C. 382, 390, 574 S.E.2d 215, 219 (Ct. App. 2002). "A trial court's decision to admit or exclude expert testimony will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion." State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 269, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009). A trial court abuses its power of discretion when it commits an error of law or when there has been a factual conclusion without any evidentiary support. State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006). "There is no abuse of discretion as long as the witness has acquired by study or practical experience such knowledge of the subject matter of his testimony as would enable him to give guidance and assistance to the jury in resolving a factual issue which is beyond the scope of the jury's good judgment and common knowledge." State v. Goode, 305 S.C. 176, 178, 406 S.E.2d 391, 393 (Ct. App. 1991).

For the reasons articulated above, Galloway-Williams' testimony carries abundant probative value. The testimony is not unfairly prejudicial. "Unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis." State v. Owens, 346 S.C. 637, 552 S.E.2d 745 (2001) *overruled on other grounds by* State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610

S.E.2d 494 (2005). “Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant’s case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest decision on an improper basis.” State v. Dennis, 402 S.C. 627, 636, 742 S.E.2d 21, 26 (Ct. App. 2013) (internal quotation marks omitted). “All evidence is meant to be prejudicial; it is only unfair prejudice which must be avoided.” State v. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. 621, 630, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct. App. 1998) (internal quotation marks omitted).

The fact that a jury might extract useful information from the expert testimony in understanding Victim’s behaviors is not unfairly prejudicial. Hamilton fails to cite any cases finding general testimony on delayed disclosure or grooming is unfairly prejudicial. The trial court did not err. State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 378, 580 S.E.2d 785, 794 (Ct. App. 2003) (“A trial judge’s decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances.”).

Harmless error

Additionally, any conceivable error is harmless. See State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (holding whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the case, but it is harmless where it could not reasonably have changed the outcome of the trial). There was no real defense in this case. Hamilton corroborated Victim’s claims. When arguing against harmless error, Hamilton does not even mention his confessions. Moreover, there is not a hint of improper motive anywhere in the record for Victim or her mother to fabricate claims.

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